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Description 

CABEI Central American Fund plc (“the Company”), incorporated on 12 March 1999 in Dublin, Ireland with registered number 
303448, is a designated, limited liability, open-ended investment company with variable capital. It is an umbrella Company 
entitled to issue several classes of shares to be invested in several portfolios, The Company has issued shares in the CABEI 
Central American Portfolio (the "Fund"), which is the only current portfolio. The Company is administered by Northern Trust 
International Fund Administration Services (Ireland) Limited. The Investment Manager, DWS Investment GmbH, is an indirect 
subsidiary of Deutsche Bank AG. The Fund is denominated in US Dollars.

The Company is domiciled in Ireland. It is authorised in Ireland as an investment company and is a designated investment 
Company pursuant to the Companies Act 2014, and is supervised by the Central Bank of Ireland (the "Central Bank") as an 
Undertakings for Collective Investment in Transferable Securities ("UCITS"). 

Investment Objective and Policy 

The Portfolio’s investment objective is to generate a high real rate of return for investors by investing primarily in the debt 
securities of issuers located in Central America, as described below.

The Portfolio seeks to achieve this objective by investing primarily in a diversified portfolio of fixed and floating rate securities 
(including but not limited to bonds, notes, deposits, credit linked deposits, certificates of deposit and debentures) issued by 
sovereign issuers, their agents and instrumentalities, state-owned issuers slated for privatization, corporate issuers, supranational 
issuers, quasi-governmental issuers, and any other issuer deemed fit for investment by the Investment Manager. It is the goal 
of the Portfolio to invest the majority of its assets in Central American countries (such as Guatemala, Honduras, Nicaragua, El 
Salvador and Costa Rica) that are founding members of The Central American Bank for Economic Integration (CABEI), subject 
to prevailing market conditions and having regard to the risk/return profile of the Portfolio. With the exception of permitted 
investments in unlisted securities or in units of open-ended collective investment schemes, investment will be restricted to those 
stock exchanges and markets listed in the Prospectus.

Countries in which the Portfolio may invest include Guatemala, Honduras, El Salvador, Nicaragua, Costa Rica, Mexico, 
Colombia, Argentina, Panama, the Dominican Republic, Belize, Spain and the People’s Republic of China (which are existing 
members of CABEI) and any other countries which become members of CABEI and which are deemed fit for investment by the 
Investment Manager. Subject to the investment restrictions in the Prospectus, there will be no limit to the amount or proportion 
invested in the issuers of any one country and there will be no sectoral bias. The Portfolio will generally be diversified by country, 
currency and issuer but may hold concentrated positions in currencies, countries and issuers from time to time. In addition, there 
will be no restriction with respect to the currency of denomination of any of the securities in which the Portfolio may invest.

The Portfolio's investment and borrowing restrictions are detailed in the Prospectus issued on 6 March 2017.

 
Investment Management 

DWS Investment GmbH serves as Investment Manager pursuant to an investment management agreement dated 31 December 
2004 (as amended 1 May 2018). 

Net Asset Value 

The Net Asset Value of the Fund is calculated daily for every day that is a business day in Dublin and New York. The Net Asset 
Value of the Fund is calculated by dividing the value of the Portfolio’s Net Assets (the value of its assets less its liabilities) by 
the total number of shares outstanding. All securities held by the Portfolio, for which market quotations are readily available, are 
valued at the closing price on the primary exchange quoted for the securities. Debt securities are valued by independent pricing 
services approved by Northern Trust Fiduciary Services (Ireland) Limited (the “Depositary”). If the pricing services are unable 
to provide valuations, the securities are valued at the most recent bid quotation or evaluated price as applicable, obtained from 
a broker-dealer. Such service may use various pricing techniques, which take into account appropriate factors such as yield, 
quality, coupon rate, maturity, type of issue, trading characteristics and other data, as well as broker quotes. 

All other securities and assets, for which market quotations are not readily available, are taken at probable realisation value 
as determined in good faith by the Directors (or by a pricing committee of Directors established for the purpose) with the 
approval of the Depositary, although the actual calculation may be done by other competent and responsible persons. Any 
assets or liabilities, initially expressed in currencies other than US Dollars, are translated into US Dollars at the closing rate of 
exchange quoted by a recognised pricing service. The Portfolio’s Net Asset Value per Share is available on Thomson-Reuters 
and Bloomberg electronic platforms. The ISIN code of the Company is IE0006076388. 
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Issue and Repurchase of Shares 

The procedures for the issue and repurchase of shares are described in detail in the English Prospectus dated 6 March 2017 and 
the Swiss Prospectus (German) dated 16 May 2017. The Portfolio's Dealing Day is every day that is a business day in Dublin 
and New York. 

Issue of Shares 

Allotments of shares are normally made with effect from a Dealing Day against applications received in Dublin by the 
Administrator by 9:00pm Dublin time on the preceding Business Day. Requests for the purchase of shares may be made by 
facsimile, email or in writing to the Northern Trust International Fund Administration Services (Ireland) Limited. Transaction 
settlement will be within three Business Days of the relevant Dealing Day. 

Repurchase of Shares 

Requests for the repurchase of shares must be received by the Administrator by 9.00pm Dublin time on a Business Day which is 
at least two Business Days prior to the relevant Dealing Day and will then normally be dealt with on that Dealing Day. Requests 
for the redemption/repurchase of shares may be made either by facsimile, email or in writing to the Administrator. Transaction 
settlement will be within three Business Days of the relevant Dealing Day.

Published Information 

Shareholders will receive audited annual and unaudited semi-annual Reports of the Company on request. Notices of general 
meetings will be sent to shareholders at least twenty-one days prior to meetings. The Net Asset Value per Share is available 
on Thomson-Reuters and Bloomberg electronic platforms as well as on the Company's website on www.cabeifund.com. The 
subscription and redemption prices may be obtained from the Administrator at the contact information below. 

A statement of changes in the composition of the portfolio during the financial year will be made available to shareholders on 
receipt of a written request. 

Past performance is not necessarily a guide to future performance. Income from the investment may fluctuate in value in money 
terms. Changes in rates of exchange between currencies may cause the value of the shares to diminish or increase. 

Enquiries to: 
Northern Trust International Fund Administration Services (Ireland) Limited 
Attn: David Heery 
Georges Court 
54-62 Townsend Street
Dublin 2 
Ireland 
Tel: 353 1 5318031

The above details are in summary form only and must be read in conjunction with the detailed information contained in the 
English Prospectus dated 6 March 2017 and the Swiss Prospectus (German) dated 16 May 2017. 

Other Information 

The Company is registered in Switzerland with the Swiss Financial Market Supervisory Authority (FINMA) effective 
29 September 2014. The Prospectus, the key investor information documents ("KIIDs"), the Memorandum and Articles of 
Association, the annual and semi-annual reports are available free of charge on www.cabeifund.com and from the Swiss legal 
representative, First Independent Fund Services Ltd.
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The net asset value per share of the CABEI Central American Portfolio decreased by 2.39% in 2018. At the end of the reporting 
period, the fund had net assets of USD 143.05 million and a net asset value of USD 2,271.64 per share.

 Latin America

• In Mexico, the election in July was the dominant topic in 2018. Leftist candidate Andres Manuel Lopez Obrador “AMLO” 
won the presidential election. His comments on Mexican City airport shocked the market and also his plans for Pemex, the 
state owned oil producer, did not convince market participants. 

• Chile: Domestic demand led activity growth in H1 2018. The headline fiscal deficit is to experience a substantial correction 
in 2018, narrowing to 1.7% of GDP from 2.7% in 2017, on mining-related revenues, austerity measures and stronger than 
expected nominal growth.

• Colombia: Economic recovery has proven more gradual than initially expected. Uncertainty around the approval of fiscal 
reforms in 2018 and some worries about the incoming Duque administration’s grasp on governability have dampened 
sentiment somewhat.

• Peru: Despite the political uncertainty experienced mostly in H1 2018, year-to-date GDP expanded 3.6% year on year. Private 
sector fixed capital formation expanded for four consecutive quarters, leaving behind a protracted contraction.

• Brazil: The end of electoral uncertainty has improved sentiment, but global headwinds make reforms even more urgent. 
Given that Mr. Bolsonaro generally has espoused free-market policies, it seems markets have been encouraged by his victory. 
His first appointments to key economic positions, led by the Economy Minister Guedes, have reinforced this enthusiasm. 
However, the devil will be in the details, and execution risk remains on everyone’s mind. Particularly challenging will be the 
approval of a much-needed social security reform.

• Argentina: The financial and economic crisis the country has been suffering since Q2 2018 has elevated the political risk. 
The implementation of the new monetary program has proved successful in stabilizing the exchange rate, with interest rates 
already embarked on a downward trend. But sovereign credit spreads have remained elevated.

Central America and the Caribbean

• Most of the countries in Central America remain to be commodity importers. So the recent drop in Oil prices could be 
supportive for their budged situation.

• The region has overall high dependency on US remittances and should benefit from a strong US economy.
• El Salvador: Remittances continued to bode well for consumption growth in El Salvador as they reached US$3.6billion for 

the January-August period, increasing 9.5% year over year. But GDP growth remains sluggish at around 2.5% estimated for 
2018. Fiscal consolidation efforts continue with a forecasted 1.4% of GDP primary surplus in 2018 (IMF estimates).

• Costa Rica: Carlos Alvarado won presidential election at the beginning of the year. Since June/ July the news were dominated 
by a fiscal reform proposal by the government. Refinancing was done mainly locally and even the Central Bank was involved 
because external funding was not possible. End of November fiscal reform was approved, but fiscal improvement was not 
high enough for rating agencies to keep their BB rating. Moody’s and S&P lowered their rating to B1 and B+ in December.

• Guatemala: Guatemala kept its tight fiscal stance in recent years. It post a current surplus for Q1 2018. Remittances were 
also solid up 10.6% year over year. The Courts gave the greenlight on the case against President Jimmy Morales for illegal 
campaign financing. In 2017 almost two thirds voted to protect Morales and congress has not changed since then.

• Dominican Republic: The fundamental picture remains solid because of a strong tourism’s season. GDP growth for the first 
half of 2018 landed at 6.7% year on year, maintaining the solid performance observed since Q4 2017. Impact of higher Oil 
prices led to a small current account deficit in H1. The recent drop in Oil prices should lead to a relaxation. The market 
expects a continuation of the prevailing pro-market stance.
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Investment Strategy

• The Fund’s investment focus remain on the founding members of the Central American Bank for Economic Integration: 
Costa Rica, El Salvador, Guatemala, Honduras (Nicaragua in case of bond issuance). Since mid-2018, bonds of Dominiquan 
Republic and Panama are also treated as founding members. Bonds of these countries must account for more than 50% of 
the portfolio.

• We think that market reaction for Costa Rican sovereign and quasi-sovereign bonds with medium-term maturity was too 
harsh. Bonds offers now higher yields than El Salvador.

• Bonds of Honduras and Guatemala remain to trade very tight, but are supported by the strong fiscal discipline of their 
governments. Liquidity in both bond markets remains muted.

• Panama and the Dominican Republic accounted for a good portion of the fund and especially bonds from the Dominican 
Republic should be well supported.

• The portfolio also includes other quasi-sovereign issuers (e.g. Instituto Costarricense de Electricidad, Ecopetrol, Pemex) and 
supranationals because of attractive spreads versus the respective government bonds.

• In US Treasury sensitive markets (e.g. Mexico, Panama), duration was kept limited.

On behalf of the Investment Manager 
DWS Investment GmbH 

Nicolas Schlotthauer, 
Portfolio Manager 

Roland Gabert, 
Portfolio Manager 

21  March 2019
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The Directors of CABEI Central American Fund plc (the “Company”) present herewith the annual report and audited financial 
statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2018. 

Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities 

The Directors are responsible for preparing the annual report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable Irish 
law and regulations. 

Irish company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under Company law, the Directors 
have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as 
adopted by the European Union (“EU”). Under Company law, the Directors must not approve the financial statements unless 
they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities and financial position of the Company and of its 
changes in net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares for that financial year and otherwise comply with 
the Companies Act 2014. 

In preparing these financial statements, the Directors are required to:

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
• make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
• state whether IFRS and Companies Act 2014 have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and 

explained in the financial statements;
• assess the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern; 

and 
• use the going concern basis of accounting unless they either intend to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or 

have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Directors are responsible for ensuring that the Company keeps or causes to be kept adequate accounting records which 
correctly explain and record the transactions of the Company, enable at any time the assets, liabilities, financial position and 
profit or loss of the Company to be determined with reasonable accuracy, enable them to ensure that the financial statements 
and Directors' report comply with the IFRS as adopted by the European Union and the Companies Act 2014 and the European 
Communities (Undertakings for Collective Investments in Transferable Securities) Regulations 2011, as amended, (the “UCITS 
Regulations”) and the Central Bank (Supervision and Enforcement) Act 2013 (Section 48(1)) (Undertakings for Collective 
Investment in Transferable Securities) Regulations 2015, as amended, (the “CBI UCITS Regulations) and enable the financial 
statements to be audited. The Directors have appointed Northern Trust International Fund Administration Services (Ireland) 
Limited to maintain proper books of account. The address at which this business is conducted is as follows: 

Northern Trust International Fund Administration Service (Ireland) Limited 
Georges Court 
54-62 Townsend Street
Dublin 2
Ireland

The Directors are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and for taking reasonable steps for the prevention 
and detection of fraud and other irregularities. In fulfilment of this responsibility, they have entrusted the assets of the Company 
to the Depositary for safekeeping in accordance with the Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Company. In carrying 
out this duty, the Directors have delegated custody of the Company's assets to Northern Trust Fiduciary Services (Ireland) 
Limited. The address at which this business is conducted is as follows: 

Northern Trust Fiduciary Services (Ireland) Limited 
Georges Court 
54-62 Townsend Street
Dublin 2
Ireland

The Directors are also responsible for preparing a Directors’ Report that complies with the requirements of the Companies Act 
2014. 

So far as the Directors are aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Company's statutory auditors are unaware; 
and the Directors have taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as a Director in order to make the auditors aware of any 
relevant audit information and to establish that the company's statutory auditors are aware of that information. 
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Corporate Governance Statement 

The Company is no longer listed on the Irish Stock Exchange, however, the Directors have opted to include a Corporate 
Governance Statement. 

The European Communities (2006/46 EC) Regulations, 2009, were signed into law on 19 November 2009, introducing a 
requirement for the Directors of all companies with securities admitted for trading on a regulated market to make an annual 
statement on corporate governance. The statement is required to include commentary on compliance with applicable codes of 
governance, systems of risk management and internal controls together with other details, including the operation of the Board 
and arrangements for shareholder meetings. 

A corporate governance code ("the Irish Funds code") applicable to Irish domiciled collective investment schemes was issued by 
Irish Funds in December 2011. Companies required by their respective governing Regulations to adopt a Corporate Governance 
Code include a) companies listed on ISE, b) those admitted for trading on a regulated market governed by 2006/46 EC Regs 
2009, and c) Irish domiciled collective investment schemes governed by the Irish Funds Code.

The Directors have put in place a framework for corporate governance which they believe is suitable for an Investment Company, 
which enables the Company to comply voluntarily with the main requirements of the Irish Funds code, which set out principles 
of good governance and a code of best practice.

The Directors consider that the Company has complied with the main provisions contained in the Irish Funds code throughout 
this accounting year.

Internal Control and Risk Management Systems

The Company is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control and risk management systems in relation 
to the financial reporting process. Such systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of error or fraud in 
achieving the Company's financial reporting objectives and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against 
material misstatement or loss. 

The Company has procedures in place to ensure all relevant accounting records are properly maintained and are readily available, 
including production of annual and half-yearly financial statements. The annual and half-yearly financial statements of the 
Company are required to be approved by the Board of Directors of the Company and filed with the Central Bank of Ireland. 
The Statutory financial statements are required to be audited by Independent Auditors who report annually to the Board on their 
findings. 

The Directors evaluates and discusses significant accounting and reporting issues as the need arises.

Operation of the Shareholder Meetings, the Key Powers of the Shareholder Meetings, Shareholders' Rights and the Exercise of 
Such Rights 

The convening and conduct of shareholders' meetings are governed by the Articles of Association of the Company and the 
Companies Act 2014. Although the Directors may convene an extraordinary general meeting of the Company at any time, 
the Directors are required to convene an annual general meeting of the Company every calendar year within nine months 
of the Company's financial year-end and no more than fifteen months from the date of the previous annual general meeting. 
Shareholders representing not less than one-tenth of the paid up share capital of the Company may also request the Directors 
to convene a shareholders' meeting. Not less than twenty one days notice, of every annual general meeting and any meeting 
convened for the passing of a special resolution, must be given to shareholders and fourteen days' notice must be given in the 
case of any other general meeting unless the auditors of the Company and all the shareholders of the Company entitled to attend 
and vote agree to shorter notice. 

Two shareholders present either in person or by proxy constitute a quorum at a general meeting provided that the quorum for a 
general meeting convened to consider any alteration to the class rights of shares is two shareholders holding or representing by 
proxy at least one third of the issued shares of the relevant fund or class. 

Every shareholder present in person or by proxy who votes on a show of hands is entitled to one vote. On a poll, every shareholder 
is entitled to one vote in respect of each share held by him. The Chairman of a general meeting of the Company or at least 
five shareholders present in person or by proxy or any holder or holders of participating shares present in person or by proxy 
representing at least one tenth of the shares in issue having the right to vote at such meeting may demand a poll. 
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Shareholders may resolve to sanction an ordinary resolution or special resolution at a shareholders' meeting. An ordinary 
resolution of the Company or of the shareholders of a particular fund or class requires a simple majority of the votes cast by the 
shareholders voting in person or by proxy at the meeting at which the resolution is proposed. A special resolution of the Company 
or of the shareholders of a particular fund or class requires a majority of not less than 75% of the shareholders present in person 
or by proxy and voting in general meeting in order to pass a special resolution including a resolution to amend the Articles of 
Association. 

Composition and Operation of the Board of Directors and the Committees of the Board of Directors 

Unless otherwise determined by an ordinary resolution of the Company in general meeting, the number of Directors may not be 
less than two. Currently, the Board of Directors of the Company is composed of six Directors (Jaime Chavez resigned 30 June 
2018), being those listed on page 1 of these financial statements. 

The business of the Company is managed by the Directors, who exercise all such powers of the Company in general meeting as 
required by the Companies Act 2014 or by the Articles of Association of the Company. 

A Director may, and the Secretary of the Company on the requisition of a Director will, at any time summon a meeting of the 
Directors. Questions arising at any meeting of the Directors are determined by a majority of votes. In the case of an equality 
of votes, the Chairman has a second or casting vote. The quorum necessary for the transaction of business at a meeting of the 
Directors is two. 

There are currently two sub-committees of the Board, the Pricing Committee and the Investment Committee.

Principal Activities 

As of the date of these financial statements the Company has been approved by the Central Bank as an investment company 
pursuant to Part XIII of the Companies Act 2014. 

The objective of the Company is to generate a high real rate of return of investors bu investing primarily in the debt securities 
of issuers located in Central America

The Investment Manager’s Report contains a review of the factors which contributed to the performance for the financial year. 

The Directors do not anticipate any changes in the structure or investment objective in the foreseeable future. 

Risk Management Objectives and Policies 

The main risks arising from the Company’s financial instruments are market, currency, interest rate, price, liquidity and 
counterparty credit risks. Further information on these are given in note 3 to these financial statements. 

Significant Changes During the Financial Year 

An updated Investment Management Agreement was issued dated 1 May 2018. The Investment Manager fees reduced to 40 bps 
on the first USD 100m of assets and 30 bps on assets thereafter.

Jaime Chavez resigned as Director on 30 June 2018.

There were no other changes during the financial year ended 31 December 2018. 

Significant Events Since the Financial Year End 

There have been no other significant events affecting the Company since the financial year end. 

Dividends 

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend. 

Corporate Governance Statement  (Continued)

Operation of the Shareholder Meetings, the Key Powers of the Shareholder Meetings, Shareholders' Rights and the Exercise of 
Such Rights  (Continued)
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Substantial Shareholdings 

Central American Bank for Economic Integration had an interest of 99.73% (31 December 2017: 97.47%) in the shares of the 
Company at the financial year end.

Directors 

The Directors who held office during the financial year under review were: 

Alejandro Rodriguez (Costa Rican) 
Jaime Chavez (Honduran) (resigned 30 June 2018)
Markus Kohlenbach (German) 
Michael Greene (Irish) 
Nick Rischbieth Glöe (Honduran) 
Walter Dostmann (German) (Chairman) 
Tom Geary (Irish)

Directors' Interests in Shares and Contracts 

Walter Dostmann holds one subscriber share. None of the other Directors listed above who held office at the financial year end 
had any interests in the shares of the Company at that date or at any time during the financial year (31 December 2017: 1). 

Transactions Involving Directors 

There are no contracts or arrangements of any significance in relation to the business of the Company in which the Directors or 
Company Secretary had any interest as defined in the Companies Act 2014, at any time during the financial year. 

Transaction with Connected Persons 

Any transaction carried out with a UCITS by a management company or depositary to the UCITS, the delegates or sub-delegates 
of the management company or depositary, and any associated or group of such a management company, depositary, delegate or 
sub-delegate ("connected persons") must be carried out as if negotiated at arm's length. Transactions must be in the best interests 
of the shareholders. 

The Directors are satisfied that there are arrangements (evidenced by written procedures) in place, to ensure that the obligations 
set out in Regulation 41(1) of the Central Bank UCITS Regulations are applied to all transactions with connected persons, 
and are satisfied that transactions with connected parties entered into during the year complied with the obligations set out in 
Regulation 41 (1) of the Central Bank UCITS Regulations. 

Directors Compliance Statement
(made in accordance with Section 225 of the Companies Act, 2014)
 
The Directors acknowledge that they are responsible for securing compliance by the Company with its Relevant Obligations as 
defined with the Companies Act 2014 (the “Relevant Obligations”)
 
The Directors further confirm the Company has put into place appropriate arrangements or structures that are, in the Directors’ 
opinion, designed to secure material compliance with its Relevant Obligations including reliance on the advice of persons 
employed by the Company and external legal and tax advisers as considered appropriate from time to time and that they have 
reviewed the effectiveness of these arrangements or structures during the financial year to which this Report relates.  
 
During the financial year ended 31 December 2018 the Company did not have an audit committee in place. The Board considered 
setting up an audit committee as outlined in Section 167 of the Companies Act 2014. The Board made the decision not to 
establish an audit committee as this was deemed most appropriate to the Company’s structure as a UCITS fund and the nature, 
scale and complexity of the Company’s operations at this time.
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For the financial year ended 31 December 2018

Notes

Year ended 
31 December 2018 

US$

Year ended 
31 December 2017 

US$
Income
Interest income calculated using the effective interest 
method 2(i),5 19,288 12,184
Other Income 5 – 14,150
Net currency (losses)/gains (720) 5,663
Net (losses)/gains on financial assets and liabilities 
at fair value through profit or loss  (1,919,844)  8,781,422

Total investment income  (1,901,276)  8,813,419

Operating expenses 7  (1,316,621)  (1,257,566)
 (1,316,621)  (1,257,566)

Net (loss)/income  (3,217,897)  7,555,853

(Loss)/Profit for the year  (3,217,897)  7,555,853

(Decrease)/Increase in Net Assets Attributable to Holders 
of Redeemable Participating Shares  (3,217,897)  7,555,853

There are no recognised gains or losses arising in the financial year other than the (decrease)/increase in Net Assets Attributable 
to Holders of Redeemable Participating Shares resulting from operations of the Company. In arriving at the results of the 
financial year, all amounts above relate to continuing operations. 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

6
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For the financial year ended 31 December 2018

Year ended 
31 December 2018 

US$

Year ended 
31 December 2017 

US$

Net Assets Attributable to Holders of Redeemable Participating Shares at 
beginning of year    119,373,705    109,685,532

(Decrease)/Increase in Net Assets to Holders of Redeemable Participating 
Shares resulting from operations    (3,217,897)    7,555,853

Amounts received on issue of Redeemable Participating Shares    78,234,224    68,029,536

Amounts paid on redemption of Redeemable Participating Shares    (51,338,453)    (65,897,216)

Increase in Net Assets resulting from Share transactions    26,895,771    2,132,320

Net increase in shareholders' funds    23,677,874    9,688,173

Net Assets Attributable to Holders of Redeemable Participating Shares at 
end of year    143,051,579    119,373,705

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Year ended 
31 December 2018 

US$

Year ended 
31 December 2017 

US$

Cash flows from operating activities
Proceeds from sale of investments    32,482,944    19,065,391
Purchase of investments    (63,452,606)    (21,672,209)
Interest paid    18,646    26,074
Other operating expenses paid    (1,223,971)    (1,240,516)

Net cash used in operating activities    (32,174,987)    (3,821,260)

Cash flows from financing activities
Amounts received on issue of Redeemable Participating Shares    78,234,224    68,029,536
Amounts paid on redemption of Redeemable Participating Shares    (51,338,453)    (65,897,216)

Net cash from financing activities    26,895,771    2,132,320

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents    (5,279,216)    (1,688,940)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year*    8,172,609    9,855,886
Foreign exchange (losses)/gains on cash and cash equivalents    (720)    5,663

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year*    2,892,673    8,172,609

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

* Cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank, cash in hand and bank overdrafts.

**All cash movements.
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1. Basis of Preparation

a) Statement of Compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) 
endorsed by the European Union (“EU”), Companies Act 2014 and the European Communities (Undertakings for Collective 
Investments in Transferable Securities) Regulations 2011, as amended, (the “UCITS Regulations”) and the Central Bank 
(Supervision and Enforcement) Act 2013 (Section 48(1)) (Undertakings for Collective Investment in Transferable Securities) 
Regulations 2015, as amended, (the “CBI UCITS Regulations”). The financial statements are prepared under the historical 
cost convention as modified by the revaluation of financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS as adopted by the EU requires the use of certain critical 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements 
and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results ultimately may differ from 
those estimates. 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised 
in the period when the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected. Information about significant areas of 
estimation, uncertainty and critical judgments in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the 
amounts recognised in the financial statements are described in note 4. 

All references to Net Assets throughout this document, refer to Net Assets Attributable to Holders of Redeemable Participating 
Shares, unless otherwise stated. 

The financial statements are prepared in US Dollars and rounded to the nearest US Dollar.

This is the first set of the Fund’s annual financial statements in which IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (“IFRS 9’’) has been 
applied. Changes to significant accounting policies are described in Note 2. 

Accounting Standards 

Standards and amendments to existing standards effective 1 January 2018

IFRS 9, ‘Financial Instruments’:

IFRS 9 became effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. It addresses the classification, measurement 
and derecognition of financial assets and liabilities and replaces the multiple classification and measurement models in IAS 
39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement (‘’IAS 39’’).

As a result of the adoption of IFRS 9, the Fund has adopted consequential amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial 
Statements, which require:

 - impairment of financial assets to be presented in a separate line item in the statement of comprehensive income. Under 
IAS 39, impairment was recognised when losses were incurred. The Fund did not previously report any incurred losses; 
andequally weighted daily returns.

 - separate presentation in the statement of comprehensive income of interest revenue calculated using the effective interest 
method. Previously, the Fund disclosed this amount in the notes to the financial statements.

 
The adoption of IFRS 9 had no material impact on the net assets attributable to holders of redeemable shares of the Fund.

(i). Classification and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities

IFRS 9 contains three principal classification categories for financial assets: measured at amortised cost, FVOCI and FVTPL. 
The classification of financial assets under IFRS 9 is generally based on the business model in which a financial asset is 
managed and its contractual cash flow characteristics. IFRS 9 eliminates the previous IAS 39 categories of held to maturity, 
loans and receivables and available for sale. Under IFRS 9, derivatives embedded in contracts where the host is a financial 
asset in the scope of the standard are never separated. Instead, the hybrid financial instrument as a whole is assessed for 
classification. 

IFRS 9 largely retains the existing requirements in IAS 39 for the classification and measurement of financial liabilities.
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The adoption of IFRS 9 has not had a significant effect on the Fund’s accounting policies related to financial liabilities. 

For an explanation of how the Fund classifies and measures financial instruments and accounts for related gains and losses 
under IFRS 9, see Note 2. 

The following table below explain the original measurement categories under IAS 39 and the new measurement categories 
under IFRS 9 for each class of the Fund’s financial assets and financial liabilities as at 1 January 2018.

Sub 
note 

Original 
classification 
under IAS 39 

New 
classification 
under IFRS 9 

Financial assets*

Cash and cash equivalents Loans and 
receivables 

Amortised 
cost 

Deposit interest receivable Loans and 
receivables 

Amortised 
cost 

Debt securities (a) Designated as 
at FVTPL 

Mandatorily 
at FVTPL 

Financial liabilities

Payables Amortised cost Amortised 
cost 

Net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating
Shares

Amortised cost Amortised 
cost 

a) Under IAS 39, these financial assets were designated as at FVTPL because they were managed on a fair value basis and 
their performance was monitored on this basis. These assets have been classified as mandatorily measured at FVTPL under 
IFRS 9.

*There is no effect of adopting IFRS 9 on the original carrying amounts under IAS 39 and the new carrying amount under 
IFRS 9 of financial assets at 1 January 2018.

 (ii). Impairment of financial assets

IFRS 9 replaces the ‘incurred loss’ model in IAS 39 with an ‘expected credit loss’ (ECL) model. The new impairment model 
applies to financial assets measured at amortised cost. Under IFRS 9, credit losses are recognised earlier than under IAS 39. 

The Fund has determined that the application of IFRS 9’s impairment requirements at 1 January 2018 results in an immaterial 
impairment allowance on cash and cash equivalents and deposit interest receivable. 

 (iii). Transition

Changes in accounting policies resulting from the adoption of IFRS 9 have no impact on comparative periods. 

Considering that the amendments made by IFRS 9 to IAS 1 introduced the requirement to present ‘interest income calculated 
using the effective interest rate’ as a separate line item in the statement of comprehensive income, the Fund has reclassified 
comparative interest income on financial instruments designated as at FVTPL to ‘net income from financial instruments at 
FVTPL’ and changed the description of the line item from ‘operating income’ reported in 2017 to ‘interest income calculated 
using the effective interest method’. 

1. Basis of Preparation (Continued)

a) Statement of Compliance (Continued)

Accounting Standards  (Continued)

(i). Classification and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities (Continued)
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On the basis of the facts and circumstances that existed at the date of initial application the assessment made was on the 
determination of the business model within which a financial asset is held.

b) Basis of Measurement

The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for financial instruments classified at fair value 
through profit or loss that have been measured at fair value. Items included in the Fund’s financial statements are measured 
using the currency of the primary economic environment in which the Fund operates (the “functional currency”), which 
is US Dollars (“US$”). The Fund has also adopted this functional currency as the presentation currency of the Financial 
Statements. 

c) Use of Estimates and Judgements

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the Fund to make estimates and assumptions 
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the 
financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the year. Actual results could differ from 
those estimates. The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognised in the year in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that year, or in the year of 
the revision and future years if the revision affects both current and future years.

2. Significant Accounting Policies

 Financial Instruments

a) Classification

Policy applicable from 1 January 2018
Classification of financial assets
On initial recognition, the Fund classifies financial assets as measured at amortised cost or FVTPL. A financial asset is 
measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated as at FVTPL:

 - it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows; and
 - its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are SPPI.

All other financial assets of the Fund are measured at FVTPL.

Business model assessment
In making an assessment of the objective of the business model in which a financial asset is held, the Fund considers all of 
the relevant information about how the business is managed, including:

 - the documented investment strategy and the execution of this strategy in practice. This includes whether the investment 
strategy focuses on earning contractual interest income, maintaining a particular interest rate profile, matching the 
duration of the financial assets to the duration of any related liabilities or expected cash outflows or realising cash flows 
through the sale of the assets;

 - how the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the Fund’s management;
 - the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within that business model) and 

how those risks are managed;
 - how the investment manager is compensated: e.g. whether compensation is based on the fair value of the assets managed 

or the contractual cash flows collected; and
 - the frequency, volume and timing of sales of financial assets in prior periods, the reasons for such sales and expectations 

about future sales activity.

1. Basis of Preparation (Continued)

a) Statement of Compliance (Continued)

Accounting Standards  (Continued)

 (iii). Transition (Continued)
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Transfers of financial assets to third parties in transactions that do not qualify for derecognition are not considered sales  
for this purpose, consistent with the Fund’s continuing recognition of the assets.

The Fund has determined that it has two business models. 

Held-to-collect business model: this includes cash and cash equivalents and deposit interest receivable. These financial 
assets are held to collect contractual cash flow.

Other business model: this includes debt securities. These financial assets are managed and their performance is evaluated, 
on a fair value basis, with frequent sales taking place. The Fund is primarily focused on fair value information and uses 
that information to assess the assets’ performance and to make decisions. The Fund has not taken the option to irrevocably 
designate any equity securities as fair value through other comprehensive income. The contractual cash flows of the Fund’s 
debt securities are solely principal and interest, however, these securities are neither held for the purpose of collecting 
contractual cash flows nor held both for collecting contractual cash flows and for sale. The collection of contractual cash 
flows is only incidental to achieving the Fund’s business model’s objective. Consequently, all investments are measured at 
fair value through profit or loss.

Assessments whether contractual cash flows are SPPI
For the purposes of this assessment, ‘principal’ is defined as the fair value of the financial asset on initial recognition. 
‘Interest’ is defined as consideration for the time value of money and for the credit risk associated with the principal 
amount outstanding during a particular period of time and for other basic lending risks and costs (e.g. liquidity risk and 
administrative costs), as well as a profit margin. 

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are SPPI, the Fund considers the contractual terms of the instrument. 
This includes assessing whether the financial asset contains a contractual term that could change the timing or amount of 
contractual cash flows such that it would not meet this condition. In making this assessment, the Fund considers:

 - contingent events that would change the amount or timing of cash flows;
 - leverage features;
 - prepayment and extension features;
 - terms that limit the Fund’s claim to cash flows from specified assets (e.g. non-recourse features); and
 - features that modify consideration of the time value of money (e.g. periodical reset of interest rates)

 
Reclassifications
Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Fund were to change its business model 
for managing financial assets, in which case all affected financial assets would be reclassified on the first day of the first 
reporting period following the change in the business model.

Classification of financial liabilities
The adoption of IFRS 9 has not had a significant effect on the Fund’s accounting policies related to financial liabilities and 
derivative financial instruments.

As such, the Fund classifies all of its investment portfolio as financial assets or liabilities as fair value through profit or loss. 

The Fund’s policy requires the Investment Manager and the Board of Directors to evaluate the information about these 
financial assets and liabilities on a fair value basis together with other related financial information.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL: 

Held for trading: securities sold short and derivative financial instruments. 

Financial liabilities at amortised cost: 

This includes redeemable participating shares.

2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

a) Classification (Continued)
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b) Recognition and Initial Measurement

The Fund recognises financial assets and financial liabilities on the date it becomes party to the contractual provisions of the 
instrument. Transactions are recognised using trade date accounting.

Financial assets and liabilities categorised as at fair value through profit or loss, are measured initially at fair value, with 
transaction costs for such instruments being recognised directly in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Subsequent changes in the fair value of financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss, are recognised in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income.

c) Subsequent Measurement

After initial measurement, the Fund measures financial instruments which are classified as at fair value through profit or 
loss, at their fair values. Fair value is the amount that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an 
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value of financial instruments is based on 
their quoted market prices on a recognised exchange or sourced from a reputable broker/counterparty, in the case of non-
exchange traded instruments, at the Statement of Financial Position date without any deduction for estimated future selling 
costs. 

Assets listed or traded on a recognised exchange for which market quotations are readily available shall be valued for 
financial reporting purposes at the last traded price on the relevant exchange, taking into account any premium or discount 
where the asset was acquired or trades at an off-market premium or discount if appropriate.

The value of any security which is not quoted, listed or dealt in on a recognised exchange, or which is so quoted, listed or 
dealt but for which no such quotation or value is available, or for which the available quotation or value is not representative 
of the fair market value, shall be the probable realisation value at the year end date as estimated with care and good faith 
by (a) the Directors or (b) a competent person, firm or corporation (including the Investment Manager) selected by the 
Directors and approved for the purpose by the Depositary or (c) any other means provided that the value is approved by the 
Depositary. Where reliable market quotations are not available for fixed income securities, the value of such securities may 
be determined using matrix methodology compiled by the Directors or competent person whereby such securities are valued 
by reference to the valuation of other securities which are comparable in rating, yield, due date and other characteristics.

Fixed income securities may be valued by reference to the valuation of other securities which are considered comparable 
in rating, yield, due date and other characteristics where reliable market quotations are not available, using a methodology 
which will be compiled by the Directors or their delegate.

Cash in hand or on deposit will be valued at its nominal or face value plus accrued interest or less debit interest, where 
applicable, to the end of the relevant day on which the Valuation Point occurs.

Exchange-traded derivative instruments will be valued based on the settlement price as determined by the market where the 
instrument is traded. If such settlement price is not available, such value shall be calculated in accordance with valuating a 
security which is not quoted, listed or dealt in or on a recognised exchange as outlined previously.

Forward foreign exchange and interest rate swap contracts may be valued by reference to freely available market quotations 
or, if such quotations are not available, in accordance with the provisions in respect of OTC derivatives.

Where the Fund invests in money market instruments which have a remaining maturity of three months or less and have no 
specific sensitivity to market parameters, including credit risk, such securities may also be valued by using the amortised 
cost method of valuation. The valuation of such securities and any deviation from their marked-to-market valuations will be 
reviewed in accordance with the Central Bank Regulations and any other statutory instrument, regulations, rules, conditions, 
notices, requirements or guidance of the Central Bank issued from time to time applicable to the Fund pursuant to the 
UCITS Regulations (“the Central Bank Rules). 

2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
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Notwithstanding the above provisions the Directors may: (a) adjust the valuation of any particular asset; or (b) permit some 
other method of valuation approved by the Depositary, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed, to be 
used in respect of any particular asset if, having regard to exchange rate, applicable rate of interest, maturity, marketability 
and/or such other considerations as they deem relevant, they consider that, in the case of (a) above, such adjustment or, in 
the case of (b) above, the use of such other method of valuation is required to reflect more fairly the value of such assets. 
The rationale for adjusting the value of any asset must be clearly documented.

Impairment
Policy applicable from 1 January 2018
The Fund recognises loss allowances for ECLs on financial assets measured at amortised cost. 

The Fund measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, except for the following, which are measured at 
12-month ECLs:

 - financial assets that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date; and equally weighted daily returns.
 - other financial assets for which credit risk (i.e. the risk of default occurring over the expected life of the asset) has not 

increased significantly since initial recognition
 
When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition and when 
estimating ECLs, the Fund considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and available without undue 
cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the Fund’s historical 
experience and informed credit assessment and including forward-looking information. 

The Fund assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly if it is more than 30 days past due.

The Fund considers a financial asset to be in default when:

 - the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Fund in full, without recourse by the Fund to actions such as 
realising security (if any is held); or 

 - the financial asset is more than 90 days past due.
 
The Fund considers a financial asset to have low credit risk when the credit rating of the counterparty is equivalent to the 
globally understood definition of ‘investment grade’. The Fund considers this to be BBB- or higher per Standard & Poor’s 
rating category. 

Lifetime ECLs are the ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life of a financial instrument. 

12-month ECLs are the portion of ECLs that result from default events that are possible within the 12 months after the 
reporting date (or a shorter period if the expected life of the instrument is less than 12 months). 

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period over which the Fund is exposed 
to credit risk.

Measurement of ECLs
ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the present value of all cash 
shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the entity in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that 
the Fund expects to receive). 

ECLs are discounted at the effective interest rate of the financial asset.

Credit-impaired financial assets
At each reporting date, the Fund assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost are credit-impaired. A financial 
asset is ‘credit-impaired’ when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the 
financial asset have occurred. 

2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

c) Subsequent Measurement (Continued)
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Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable data:

 - significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer;equally weighted daily returns.
 - a breach of contract such as a default or being more than 90 days past due; or
 - it is probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

 
As at December 31, 2018 the Fund has assessed that no evidence suggest that its financial assets carried at amortised cost 
are credit impaired.

Presentation of allowance for ECLs in the statement of financial position 
Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised cost are deducted from the gross carrying amount of the assets. 

Write-off 
The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off when the Fund has no reasonable expectations of recovering a 
financial asset in its entirety or a portion thereof.

d) Derecognition

The Fund derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire or it has 
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership.

The Fund derecognises a financial liability when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expires.

e) Offsetting Financial Instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the Statement of Financial Position when, 
and only when, there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a 
net basis, or realise the assets and settle the liability simultaneously.

f) Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash comprises of cash in hand and demand deposits. Deposits are measured at amortised cost. Cash equivalents are short-
term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of 
changes in value, and are held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments rather than for investment or other 
purposes. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Company's cash management are 
included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the Statement of Cash flows.

g) Forward and Foreign Currency Contracts

The unrealised gain or loss on open forward foreign currency contracts is calculated as the difference between the original 
contracted rate and the rate to close out the contract at that point in time. Realised gains or losses on foreign currency include 
gains on contracts which have been settled. Forward foreign currency contracts are entered into to attempt to hedge the non 
US Dollar currency exposure. Gains or losses arising from such contracts are directly attributable solely to the classes to 
which they relate.

h) Transaction Cost

Transaction costs are incremental costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, issue or disposal of a financial asset 
or liability. An incremental cost is one that would not have been incurred if the entity had not acquired, issued or disposed of 
the financial instrument. When a financial asset or liability is recognised initially, an entity shall measure it at its fair value 
through profit or loss plus transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial asset or 
liability.

Transaction costs on the purchase and sale of bonds and forwards are included in the purchase and sale price of the 
investment. They cannot be practically or reliably gathered as they are embedded in the cost of the investment and cannot 
be separately verified or disclosed.

2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

c) Subsequent Measurement (Continued)
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i) Income

Interest income and expense presented in the statement of comprehensive income comprise interest on financial assets and 
financial liabilities measured at amortised cost calculated on an effective interest basis. 

The ‘effective interest rate’ is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected 
life of the financial instrument to:

 - the gross carrying amount of the financial asset; or 
 - the amortised cost of the financial liability.

 
In calculating interest income and expense, the effective interest rate is applied to the gross carrying amount of the asset 
(when the asset is not credit-impaired) or to the amortised cost of the liability. However, for financial assets that have 
become credit-impaired subsequent to initial recognition, interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate 
to the amortised cost of the financial asset. If the asset is no longer credit-impaired, then the calculation of interest income 
reverts to the gross basis. 

Interest income calculated using the effective interest method on financial assets carried at amortised cost is solely cash and 
cash equivalents.

j) Fees and Charges

Management fees, administration fees, custody fees and other operating expenses are charged to the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income on an accruals basis.

k) Redeemable Participating Shares

Redeemable Participating Shares are redeemable at the shareholder’s option and are classified as financial liabilities. Any 
distributions on these participating shares are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income as finance costs.

l) Gains and Losses on Investments

Realised gains or losses on disposal of investments during the financial year and unrealised gains and losses on valuation of 
investments held at the financial year end are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. Gains and Losses are 
calculated using the First-In, First-Out (“FIFO”) method.

m) Foreign Exchange

The functional currency of the Company is US Dollars. The Directors have determined that this reflects the Company’s 
primary economic environment, as the majority of the Company’s Net Assets Attributable to Holders of Redeemable 
Participating Shares are in US Dollars.

Foreign exchange gains and losses on financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss are 
recognised together with other changes in the fair value. Net currency gains are net foreign exchange gains and losses on 
monetary financial assets and financial liabilities other than those classified at fair value through profit or loss.

Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies, other than the functional currency of the Company, have been 
translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at 31 December 2018. Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into US 
Dollars at the exchange rate prevailing at the date of the transaction. Gains and losses on foreign exchange transactions are 
recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income in determining the result for the financial year.

2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
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The following exchange rates were used to convert investments, assets and liabilities to the functional currency of the 
Company:

As at 
31 December 2018 

US$1=

As at 
31 December 2017 

US$1=

Euro (EUR) 0.8748 0.8328
Mexican Peso (MXN) 19.6938 19.5655

n) Going Concern

The Directors believe that it is appropriate to continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements, 
and there is a reasonable expectation that the Company has and will maintain adequate resources to continue in operation 
for the foreseeable future.

3. Financial Risk Management

Strategy in Using Financial Instruments 

In pursuing its investment objective, the Company is exposed to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including market 
price risk, interest rate risk and currency risk), credit risk and liquidity risk that could result in a reduction in the Company’s 
net assets. The Company’s overall risk management policy focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to 
minimise potential adverse effects on the Fund’s financial performance. 

The nature and extent of the financial instruments outstanding at the statement of financial position date and the risk 
management policies employed by the Company are discussed below. 

Market Price Risk 

Market price risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes 
in market prices.

The Portfolio's investment objective is to generate a high real rate of return for investors by investing primarily in the debt 
securities of issuers located in Central America. The Portfolio seeks to achieve this objective by investing primarily in a 
diversified portfolio of fixed and floating rate securities (including but not limited to bonds, notes, deposits, credit linked 
deposits, certificates of deposit and debentures) issued by sovereign issuers, their agents and instrumentalities, state-owned 
issuers slated for privatization, corporate issuers, supranational issuers, quasi-governmental issuers, and any other issuer 
deemed fit for investment by the Investment Manager.

The Portfolio's debt securities are susceptible to market price risk arising from uncertainties about future prices of the 
instruments. The Portfolio Manager moderates this risk through a careful selection of securities within specified limits. The 
Portfolio Manager reviews the accuracy and the movement in prices on a daily basis. After this review, if necessary the 
Portfolio Manager may consult the Pricing Committee. The Fund's Portfolio Manager is advised by the Administrator of any 
individual securities that have a price movement greater than 3% from one business day to the next. After consultation with 
the Fund's Portfolio Manager, the price movements may be agreed upon or amended if the Portfolio Manager can provide 
sufficient back up (two recognised price sources) that the security should be priced at a different level.

The maximum risk resulting from financial instruments is determined by the fair value of the financial instruments. The 
Board of the Company manage the market price risks inherent in the investment portfolio by ensuring full and timely access 
to relevant information from the Investment Manager. The Board is informed of any unusual price variation on a timely 
basis The Board meets twice yearly and at each meeting reviews Investment performance and overall market positions. They 
monitor the Investment Manager’s compliance with the Company’s objectives.

2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

m) Foreign Exchange (Continued)
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Details of the nature of the Company's investment portfolio at the statement of financial position date are disclosed in the 
Schedule of Investments on pages 40 to 42.

At 31 December 2018 and 2017, the Company's market risk is affected by three main components: changes in actual market 
prices, interest rates and foreign currency movements. Interest rate and foreign currency movements are covered in the 
separate sections on the pages following.

Value-at-Risk (VaR) 

VaR is currently used to derive a quantitative measurement for a fund's market risk under normal market conditions. VaR 
is calculated every day. The Portfolio Manager uses BlackRock’s Aladdin as the engine for calculating absolute VaR. 
Suitable stress tests are carried out on a weekly basis. Back-testing, for reviewing the predictive quality of the VaR model, 
is performed daily. 

The Portfolio Manager receives a daily results report from the BlackRock’s Aladdin. This report shows the VaR of the 
Portfolio and risk benchmark, including, where appropriate, sensitivity data. The results of stress tests are provided weekly. 
The Portfolio Manager uses these reports every day to check that statutory and contractual market-risk limits (i.e. the VaR 
of the Portfolio may not be more than twice (200%) as high as the VaR of the derivative-free comparable reference) have 
been observed. Their findings are to be properly taken into account in investment decisions. 

The statistical VaR process is used to derive a quantitative measurement for a fund's market risk under normal market 
conditions. The result of the VaR calculation indicates the potential future losses for a fund (based on the market value) that 
will not be exceeded under normal market conditions, for a specified holding period and confidence level (e.g. 99%). The 
VaR method is a consistent, standard measurement that can be applied to all trading transactions and products. This enables 
the calculated market risk to be compared with both a specific time period and the actual return.

 The Investment Manager's policy is to use historical calculation for monitoring regulatory requirements whilst VaR figures 
from Monte Carlo (MC) simulation are calculated for information only. Historical simulation is used because it is more 
transparent. Historical simulation applies the changes in market data over the previous twelve months to the current market 
environment. MC simulation is a model that calculates the profit or loss made by a Fund in a large number of different 
market scenarios (generally 10,000 scenarios). 

The following quantitative specifications apply to the VaR model:

 - 99% confidence level
 - 10 day holding period
 - one year historical time series
 - equally weighted daily returns.

The main market risks addressed include: interest rate risk, credit spreads risk, equity price risk, exchange rate risk, vega 
risk, and their associated correlations.

Assumptions and Limitations of VaR

The standard VaR calculation is currently based on the historical market events of the last 253 trading dates. Market 
events not contained within this time window are not taken into account to assess potential future losses. A prerequisite to 
calculating VaR properly is the availability of sufficient data. VaR works well for instruments whose input variables, i.e. 
risk factors, are market observables or can at least be easily derived from the market. VaR relies on the availability of high-
quality time series of the risk factors.

Correlations among all risk factors are calcu1ated ad-hoc. Another important issue is changing correlation - for example, 
securities or asset classes which have been previously uncorrelated, might suddenly become highly correlated.
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The Investment Manager calculates daily the VaR with two methods simultaneously, i.e. historical simulation and Monte 
Carlo simulation. However, the Monte Carlo VaR calculation is based on the assumption that returns of risk factors are 
normally distributed with a constant variance over time. This is a simplification of reality and “fat tails” and greater market 
events are underestimated. 

The VaR calculation is subject to statistical sampling error. The actual losses experienced by any individual Fund may be 
greater than the VaR. If a 99% confidence level is selected, it is expected that movement in price for 1 % of observations will 
be outside of the VaR parameters. In a highly volatile market the VaR may underestimate the risk in the Portfolio.

VaR Analysis

At 31 December 2018, utilising the Investment Manager’s proprietary risk model, under normal market conditions the ten 
day historical VaR for the CABEI Central American Portfolio is approximately 1.594%/US$2,281,752 (31 December 2017: 
0.764%/US$912,983) at the 99% confidence level. That is, under normal market conditions and assuming no changes to 
shareholder capital, there is estimated to be a greater than 99% probability that the value of this Portfolio would not decrease 
by more than 1.594%/US$2,281,752 (31 December 2017: 0.764%/US$912,983) over ten days. 

CABEI Central American Portfolio did not breach VaR estimates in the current financial year (zero times during the financial 
year ended 31 December 2017, so called Backtesting-Outlier were calculated based on the 1 day fund profit and loss and 
the 1 day historical VaR).

The average level of leverage employed by the Portfolio during financial year was 00.00% (31 December 2017 00.00%).

The table below shoes the level of utilization of the VaR limit during the financial year:

                                                                                                                            2018 VaR Utilisation
Portfolio Highest Lowest Average

79.702% 33.134% 55.002%

                                                                                                                            2017 VaR Utilisation
Portfolio Highest Lowest Average

123.040% 38.110% 94.720%

Interest Rate Risk

The Fund's interest bearing financial assets and financial liabilities exposes it to risks associated with the effects of fluctuations 
in the prevailing levels of market interest rates on their financial position and cash flows.

Interest rate risk is managed, in part, by the security selection process of the Investment Manager which includes predictions 
of future events and their impact on interest rates, diversification and duration. In accordance with Company policy, the 
Investment Manager monitors the Fund's overall interest sensitivity on a daily basis, and the Board of Directors review it 
on a twice yearly basis. There were no material changes to the Company's policies and processes for managing interest rate 
risk and the methods used to measure risk since the prior financial year end.
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The tables below summarise the Fund's exposure to interest rate risk. It includes the Fund's assets and trading liabilities at 
fair value, categorised by the earlier of contractual re-pricing or maturity dates.

As at 31 December 2018 Less than 1 month Non-interest
1 month 

US$
- 1 year 

US$
1 - 5 years 

US$
> 5 years 

US$
bearing 

US$
Total 
US$

Assets
Debt instruments classified at fair
value through Profit and Loss - 5,049,479 68,047,113 67,297,572 - 140,394,164
Receivables - - - - 12,028 12,028
Cash and cash equivalents 2,892,673 - - - - 2,892,673
Total assets 2,892,673 5,049,479 68,047,113 67,297,572 12,028 143,298,865

Liabilities
Payables - - - - (247,286) (247,286)
Redeemable participating shares - - - - (143,051,579) (143,051,579)
Total liabilities - - - - (143,298,865) (143,298,865)

Total interest sensitivity gap 2,892,673 5,049,479 68,047,113 67,297,572 (143,286,837) -

As at 31 December 2017 Less than 1 month Non-interest
1 month 

US$
- 1 year 

US$
1 - 5 years 

US$
> 5 years 

US$
bearing 

US$
Total 
US$

Assets
Debt instruments classified at fair
value through Profit and Loss - 9,446,190 55,409,856 46,488,300 - 111,344,346
Receivables - - - - 9,228 9,228
Cash and cash equivalents 8,172,609 - - - - 8,172,609
Total assets 8,172,609 9,446,190 55,409,856 46,488,300 9,228 119,526,183

Liabilities
Payables - - - - (152,478) (152,478)
Redeemable participating shares - - - - (119,373,705) (119,373,705)
Total liabilities - - - - (119,526,183) (119,526,183)

Total interest sensitivity gap 8,172,609 9,446,190 55,409,856 46,488,300 (119,516,955) -

Currency Risk

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in 
foreign exchange rates. Certain of the Fund's assets and liabilities are denominated in currencies other than US Dollars, the 
functional currency. It is, therefore, exposed to currency risk as the value of the securities denominated in other currencies 
will fluctuate due to changes in exchange rates. Income denominated in foreign currencies is converted to US Dollars on 
receipt.

In accordance with Company policy, the Investment Manager monitors the Fund’s currency position on a daily basis. The 
Directors of the Company rely on the Investment Manager to keep them informed of any material event. There were no 
material changes to the Company's policies and processes for managing currency risk and the methods used to measure risk 
since the prior financial year end.
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The tables below documents the Fund's exposure to currency risk, measured in US$ equivalents:

31 December 2018 
 
Financial Assets - stated in US Dollars MXN EUR

Total 
US$

Debt instruments at fair value through profit or loss – – –
Cash and cash equivalents 78,114 15,851 93,965
Total financial assets 78,114 15,851 93,965

Financial Liabilities - stated in US Dollars
Debt instruments at fair value through profit or loss – – –
Payables – (8) (8)
Total financial liabilities – (8) (8)

31 December 2017 
 
Financial Assets - stated in US Dollars MXN EUR

Total 
US$

Debt instruments at fair value through profit or loss – – –
Cash and cash equivalents 75,103 3,612 78,715
Total financial assets 75,103 3,612 78,715

Financial Liabilities - stated in US Dollars
Debt instruments at fair value through profit or loss – – –
Payables – (2) (2)
Total financial liabilities – (2) (2)

Credit Risk 

The Company is exposed to credit risk, which is the risk that a counterparty or an issuer will be unable to pay amounts in 
full when due. 

The carrying amounts of financial assets as disclosed in the Statement of Financial Position best represent the maximum 
credit risk exposure at the Statement of Financial Position date. This relates also to financial assets carried at amortised cost, 
as they have a short-term to maturity. 

The Portfolio’s financial assets exposed to credit risk amounted to the following:

As at 
31 December 2018 

US$

As at 
31 December 2017 

US$

Debt instruments classified at fair value through Profit and Loss 140,394,164 111,344,346

Amounts in the above table are based on the carrying value of the instruments. 
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The Fund's financial assets exposed to credit risk were concentrated in the following sectors:

As at As at
31 December 2018 31 December 2017

% %

US$ Denominated: Corporate Fixed 19.76 18.76
US$ Denominated: Government Fixed 80.24 79.40
US$ Denominated: Supranationals – 1.84

100.00 100.00

Other than outlined above, there were no significant concentrations of credit risk to counterparties at 31 December 2018 or 
31 December 2017. 

Credit risk arising on debt instruments is mitigated by investing primarily in financial assets which have an investment grade 
as rated by well-known rating agencies. For unrated assets, the Investment Manager assigns a rating using an approach that 
is consistent with rating agencies. At 31 December 2018, the Fund was invested in debt securities with the credit quality 
shown overleaf. 

Portfolio by Standard & Poor’s Rating Category

As at As at
31 December 2018 31 December 2017

Rating % %

A+ 5.90 0.47
BBB+ 10.28 10.59
BBB 11.20 10.32
BBB- 7.89 8.88
BB- 37.80 45.04
B+ 8.72 –
B 1.33 –
B- 10.19 –
CCC+ – 13.87
Not rated 6.69 10.83
Total 100.00 100.00

In accordance with the Company's policy, the Investment Manager monitors the Fund's credit position on a daily basis, and 
the Board of Directors review it on a twice yearly basis. There were no material changes to the Company's policies and 
processes for managing credit risk and the methods used to measure risk since the prior financial year end. 

All transactions in securities are settled/paid for upon delivery using approved brokers. The risk of default is considered 
minimal, as delivery of securities sold is only made once the broker has received payment. Payment is made on a purchase 
once the securities have been received by the broker. The trade will fail if either party fails to meet its obligation. 

Northern Trust Fiduciary Services (Ireland) Limited (“NTFSIL”) is the appointed Depositary of the Portfolio, responsible 
for the safe-keeping of assets. NTFSIL has appointed The Northern Trust Company (“TNTC”) as its global sub-custodian. 
Both NTFSIL and TNTC are wholly owned subsidiaries of Northern Trust Corporation (“NTC”). As at year-end date 31 
December 2018, NTC had a long term credit rating from Standard & Poor’s of (A+) (31 December 2017: A+).

TNTC (as global sub-custodian of NTFSIL) does not appoint external sub-custodians within the U.S., the U.K., Ireland and 
Canada. However, in all other markets, TNTC appoints local external sub-custodians.
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NTFSIL, in the discharge of its depositary duties, verifies the Portfolio’s ownership of Other Assets, (as defined under Other 
Assets, Art 22(5) of UCITS V Directive 2014/91/EU), by assessing whether the Portfolio holds the ownership based on 
information or documents provided by the Portfolio or where available, on external evidence.

TNTC, in the discharge of its delegated depositary duties, holds in custody (i) all financial instruments that may be registered 
in a financial instruments account opened on the books of TNTC and (ii) all financial instruments that can be physically 
delivered to TNTC. TNTC ensures all financial instruments (held in a financial instruments account on the books of TNTC) 
are held in segregated accounts in the name of the Portfolio, clearly identifiable as belonging to the Portfolio, and distinct 
and separately from the proprietary assets of TNTC, NTFSIL and NTC.

In addition TNTC, as banker, holds cash of the Portfolio on deposit. Such cash is held on the Statement of Financial Position 
of TNTC. In the event of insolvency of TNTC, in accordance with standard banking practice, the Portfolio will rank as an 
unsecured creditor of TNTC in respect of any cash deposits. Insolvency of NTFSIL and or one of its agents or affiliates may 
cause the Portfolio’s rights with respect to its assets to be delayed.

The Responsible Party manages risk by monitoring the credit quality and financial position of the Depositary and such risk 
is further managed by the Depositary monitoring the credit quality and financial positions of sub-custodian appointments.

As at 31 December 2018, the Sub-Custodians used by the Portfolio are as follows: JP Morgan (71.54% of investments) and 
Euroclear (28.46% of investments). As at 31 December 2018, the Sub-Custodians are rated as follows: JP Morgan, Aa3 
(Moody's), and Euroclear AA+ (Fitch).

As at 31 December 2017, the Sub-Custodians used by the Portfolio are as follows: Citibank Panama (3.00% of investments), 
JP Morgan (60.21% of investments) and Euroclear (36.79% of investments). As at 31 December 2017, the Sub-Custodians 
are rated as follows: Citibank Panama, Ba3 (Moody’s), JP Morgan, A1 (Moody's), and Euroclear, AA+ (Fitch).

Amounts arising from ECL

Impairment on cash and cash equivalents and deposit interest receivable has been measured on a 12-month expected loss 
basis and reflects the short maturities of the exposures. The Fund considers that these exposures have low credit risk based 
on the external credit ratings of the counterparties. 

The Fund has determined that the application of IFRS 9’s impairment requirements at 1 January 2018 results in an immaterial 
impairment allowance on cash and cash equivalents and deposit interest receivable.

Liquidity Risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial liabilities. 

The Portfolio had a cash position representing 2.02% of net assets on 31 December 2018 (31 December 2017: 6.85%).

The Portfolio is exposed to daily cash redemptions of redeemable shares. The Portfolio generally retains a certain portion 
of its assets in cash, which is available to satisfy redemptions. The Portfolio invests the majority of its assets in investments 
that are traded in an active market and can be readily disposed of.

In accordance with Company policy, the Portfolio Manager monitors the Portfolio's liquidity position on a daily basis. The 
Directors rely on the Investment Manager to keep them informed of any material event. The Directors are informed of any 
unusual liquidity issues on a timely basis. There were no material changes to the Company’s policies and processes for 
managing liquidity risk and the methods used to measure risk since the prior financial year end.
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The tables below analyse the Portfolio's financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period 
at the Statement of Financial Position date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts in the table are the contractual 
undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within twelve months equal their carrying balances as the impact of discounting is 
not significant. All amounts are stated in US Dollars.

As at 31 December 2018 Less than More than
1 month 

US$
1 month 

US$
Total 
US$

Payables - 247,286 247,286
Redeemable participating shares 143,051,579 - 143,051,579
Total financial liabilities 143,051,579 247,286 143,298,865

As at 31 December 2017 Less than More than
1 month 

US$
1 month 

US$
Total 
US$

Payables - 152,478 152,478
Redeemable participating shares 119,373,705 - 119,373,705
Total financial liabilities 119,373,705 152,478 119,526,183

Redeemable Participating Shares are redeemed on demand at the holder's option.

4. Fair Value

Fair Value Disclosure

The fair value of financial assets and liabilities traded in active markets (such as publicly traded derivatives and trading 
securities) are based on quoted market prices at the close of trading on the financial year end date. The Fund adopted IFRS 
13, 'Fair value measurement', from 1 January 2013 and changed its fair valuation inputs to utilise the last traded market price 
for both financial assets and financial liabilities.

An active market is a market in which transactions for the asset or liability take place with sufficient frequency and volume 
to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis.

The fair value of financial assets and liabilities that are not traded in an active market is determined by using valuation 
techniques. The Fund uses a variety of methods and makes assumptions that are based on market conditions existing at 
each financial year end date. Valuation techniques used for non-standardised financial instruments where relevant, such 
as options, currency swaps and other over-the-counter derivatives, include the use of comparable recent arm's length 
transactions, reference to other instruments that are substantially the same, discounted cash flow analysis, option pricing 
models and other valuation techniques commonly used by market participants making the maximum use of market inputs 
and relying as little as possible on entity-specific inputs.

For instruments for which there is no active market, the Fund may use internally developed models, which are usually 
based on valuation methods and techniques generally recognised as standard within the industry. Valuation models are used 
primarily to value unlisted equity, debt securities and other debt instruments for which markets were or have been inactive 
during the financial year. Some of the inputs to these models may not be market observable and are therefore estimated 
based on assumptions. 

The output of a model is always an estimate or approximation of a value that cannot be determined with certainty, and 
valuation techniques employed may not fully reflect all factors relevant to the positions the Fund holds. Valuations are 
therefore adjusted, where appropriate, to allow for additional factors including model risk, liquidity risk and counterparty 
risk.

The carrying value less impairment provision of other receivables and payables are assumed to approximate their fair 
values. The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated by discounting the future contractual cash 
flows at the current market interest rate that is available to the Fund for similar financial instruments.
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The fair value hierarchy has the following levels:

• Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access 
at the measurement date;

• Level 2 inputs are inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, 
either directly or indirectly; and

• Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the fair value measurement is categorised in its entirety is determined on the 
basis of the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety. For this purpose, the significance 
of an input is assessed against the fair value measurement in its entirety. If a fair value measurement uses observable inputs 
that require significant adjustment based on unobservable inputs, that measurement is a Level 3 measurement. Assessing the 
significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement in its entirety requires judgement, considering factors specific 
to the asset or liability. The determination of what constitutes 'observable' requires significant judgement by the Fund. The 
Fund considers observable data to be that market data that is readily available, regularly distributed or updated, reliable and 
verifiable, not proprietary, and provided by independent sources that are actively involved in the relevant market. 

The following table analyses within the fair value hierarchy the Fund's assets and liabilities (by class) measured at fair value 
at 31 December 2018:

Level 1 
US$

Level 2 
US$

Level 3 
US$

Total 
US$

Assets
Financial Assets held for trading:
Debt Instruments
United States Dollar

Corporate Bonds – 27,669,224 – 27,669,224
Government Bonds – 112,724,940 – 112,724,940

Subtotal – 140,394,164 – 140,394,164

There were no transfers between Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3 during the financial year. 

The following table analyses within the fair value hierarchy the Fund's assets and liabilities (by class) measured at fair value 
at 31 December 2017:

Level 1 
US$

Level 2 
US$

Level 3 
US$

Total 
US$

Assets
Financial Assets held for trading:
Debt Instruments
United States Dollar

Corporate Bonds – 20,800,652 – 20,800,652
Government Bonds – 88,511,625 – 88,511,625
Supranational – 2,032,069 – 2,032,069

Subtotal – 111,344,346 – 111,344,346

There were no transfers between Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3 during the financial year end or in the prior financial year.

Assets and liabilities not carried at fair value but for which fair value is disclosed 

Cash and cash equivalents are classified as Level 1. All other assets and liabilities not measured at fair value but for which 
fair value is disclosed are classified as Level 2. Refer to notes 8 and 9 for a breakdown of assets and liabilities and to note 1 
for a description of the valuation techniques.
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5. Other Operating Income

Year ended 
31 December 2018 

US$

Year ended 
31 December 2017 

US$

Deposit interest calculated using effective interest method
on cash and cash equivalent carried at amortised cost 19,288 12,184
Compensation payment – 14,150

19,288 26,334

6.   Net (Losses)/Gains on Financial Assets and Liabilities at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss 

Year ended 
31 December 2018 

US$

Year ended 
31 December 2017 

US$

Realised gains on sale of investments 5,993,112 4,727,893
Net change in unrealised (depreciation)/appreciation on investments (7,912,956) 4,053,529

(1,919,844) 8,781,422

*Net realised gain on sale of investments includes interest income from financial assets at fair value through profit and loss. 

7. Operating Expenses

Year ended 
31 December 2018 

US$

Year ended 
31 December 2017 

US$

Administration fees 168,823 131,683
Auditors' fees 36,909 35,388
Depositary fees 68,563 68,001
Directors' expenses 37,848 49,682
Directors' fees 132,269 141,910
Directors' liability insurance 7,350 7,242
Fees to the Central Bank of Ireland 5,636 1,818
Investment management fees 540,360 608,261
Legal expenses 72,588 89,351
Marketing expenses 102,254 74,852
Sundry expenses 26,784 29,720
Other professional fees 102,340 25,995
Printing/publishing fees 29,886 30,347
VAT Reimbursements (14,989) (36,684)

1,316,621 1,257,566

8. Cash and Cash Equivalents

As at 
31 December 2018 

US$

As at 
31 December 2017 

US$

Northern Trust Fiduciary Services (Ireland) Limited 2,892,673 8,172,609
2,892,673 8,172,609
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9. Other Assets

As at 
31 December 2018 

US$

As at 
31 December 2017 

US$

Deposit interest receivable 1,585 943
Prepaid expenses 10,443 8,285

12,028 9,228

10. Payables (amounts falling due within one year)

As at 
31 December 2018 

US$

As at 
31 December 2017 

US$

Administration fees 11,592 20,304
Auditors' fees 38,200 37,825
Depositary fees 5,452 5,324
Directors' expenses 3,499 16,152
Investment management fees 93,099 45,731
Legal expenses 33,205 –
Marketing expenses 23,020 8,858
Sundry expenses 13,784 6,756
Printing/publishing fees 13,342 5,114
Other professional fees 12,093 6,414

247,286 152,478

11. Share Capital

Subscriber Shares - Equity

The Company has equity share capital of EUR7.6182 divided into 6 Subscriber shares of EUR1.269738 each. The Subscriber 
shares do not form part of the Net Asset Value of the Company.

They are thus disclosed in the financial statements by way of this note only. In the opinion of the Directors, this disclosure 
reflects the nature of the Company's investment business. The holders of Subscriber shares are entitled to one vote only in 
respect of all their Subscriber shares.

Redeemable Participating Shares - Liabilities

The Company has unlimited shares of no par value initially designated as unclassified shares.

The Participating Shares are classified as liabilities, in accordance with International Accounting Standards 32 'Financial 
Instruments Presentation' (IAS 32), as they are redeemable at the request of the holders. The shares are available as fully 
paid Redeemable Participating Shares of the Company. They carry voting rights. The shares issued by the Company are 
freely transferable and entitled to participate equally in the profits and dividends of the Company and in its Net Assets upon 
liquidation. The shares carry no preferential or preemptive rights and are entitled to one vote each at all meetings of the 
relevant class of shareholders. All shares rank pari-passu.

In accordance with the objectives listed in the Directors' Report and the risk management policies in note 3, the Company 
strives to invest the subscriptions of Redeemable Participating Shares in appropriate investments, while maintaining 
sufficient liquidity to meet shareholder redemptions. The Company also invests in short-term commercial paper and debt 
and disposes of listed securities, when necessary, to meet liquidity needs.

The Company does not have any externally imposed capital requirements.
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Shares in Issue
Year ended 

31 December 2018
Year ended 

31 December 2017
Year ended 

31 December 2016

Number of Class A Shares
Issued and Fully Paid
Balance at beginning of year 51,295 50,363 50,349
Issued during year 34,350 29,551 33,614
Redeemed during year (22,672) (28,619) (33,600)
Total number of Class A Shares in issue at end of year 62,973 51,295 50,363

12. Net Asset Value

As at 
31 December 2018 

US$

As at 
31 December 2017 

US$

As at 
31 December 2016 

US$

Net Asset Value 143,051,579 119,373,705 109,685,532

Net Asset Value per A Share Class 2,271.64 2,327.19 2,177.89

13. Fees

The Investment Manager was entitled to receive an Investment Management fee from the Company, payable monthly in 
arrears of 0.70% per annum, of the average daily Net Asset Value of the Portfolio (effective to 31 March 2017). Effective 
1 April 2017, the Investment Manager fees were reduced to 40 bps on the first US$ 100m of assets and 30 bps on assets 
thereafter.

The Investment Manager is also entitled to receive a Performance fee of 20% of the Net Asset Value's percentage out-
performance of the Hurdle Rate during the relevant year. The 'Hurdle Rate' is a 12 month Libor plus 200 basis points per 
annum return of the Net Asset Value at the beginning of the relevant year, adjusted for subscriptions and redemptions on a 
time apportioned basis. 

The Performance fees charged to the CABEI Central American Fund plc in 2018 were US$Nil (31 December 2017: US$Nil) 
as the Company did not exceed the performance Hurdle Rate.

The Depositary is entitled to a fee which is accrued daily and paid monthly in arrears at an annual rate ranging from 2.75 
basis points of the Net Asset Value for the first US$100 million to 1.75 basis points of the Net Asset Value in excess thereof, 
subject to a minimum monthly fee of US$1,000. Effective 6 May 2016, the Depositary was entitled to a fee which was 
accrued daily and paid monthly in arrears at an annual rate ranging from 2.75 basis points of the Net Asset Value for the 
first US$100 million to 1.75 basis points of the Net Asset Value in excess thereof, subject to a minimum monthly fee of 
US$1,000. The sub-custodian is also entitled to a fee subject to a minimum annual custody fee of US$1,500, the Depositary 
shall also be entitled to receive out of the Portfolio’s assets safe-keeping fees, transaction charges, pooled/single line asset 
fees, account fees, derivative fee, Investment Risk and Analytical Service fees, client pricing and due diligence fees. 

The Administrator shall be entitled to a fee which is accrued daily and paid monthly in arrears at an annual rate of 0.115% 
of Net Asset Value for the first US$100 million of net assets and 0.07% of the Net Asset Value in excess thereof, subject to 
a minimum monthly fee of US$5,000, as applicable.  The Administrator will also be entitled to receive shareholder account 
opening, maintenance and transaction charges as well as a fee for financial statement preparation at normal commercial 
rates.

11. Share Capital (Continued)

Redeemable Participating Shares - Liabilities (continued)
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14. Efficient Portfolio Management

The Investment Manager may utilise derivatives and other techniques and instruments (including, but not limited to, options, 
swaps, futures and forward foreign currency contracts) whether the intention of providing protection against risks of gaining 
exposure to certain markets, sectors or securities, or otherwise of increasing the return on the Assets of the Portfolio. 
Such derivatives and other techniques and instruments will only be used for efficient portfolio management purposes in 
accordance with the conditions and limits laid down by the Central Bank of Ireland. The Investment Manager may also, 
when facilities become available in the relevant markets, lend the Portfolio securities and/or purchase securities subject to 
repurchase agreements.

During the financial year, the Investment Manager has generally only used financial derivative instruments in the portfolio 
for the purpose of efficient portfolio management. This includes forward foreign currency contracts. Risks arising from the 
use of these financial derivative instruments at the financial year end are consistent with those set out in the risk notes to 
these financial statements.

There were no open financial derivative instrument contracts at the financial year end.

15. Related Party Transactions

IAS 24 "Related Party Transactions" requires the disclosure of information relating to material transactions with parties who 
are deemed to be related to the reporting entity.

Investment Manager

Related parties include the Investment Manager. Amounts earned by the Investment Manager are disclosed in note 7 and 
amounts due to in note 10.

There was no compensation payment paid to the portfolio during the financial year by the Investment Manager (2017 
US$14,150). 

Directors' Fee

The independent Directors are each entitled to a fee of €25,000 per annum. The total Directors' fee paid is disclosed in note 
7. There was US$Nil Directors fees payable at the financial year end (2017: Nil).

Shareholding of Related Parties

CABEI had an interest of 99.73% (31 December 2017: 97.47%) in the shares of the Company at the financial year end. 
During the financial year ended 31 December 2018 CABEI redeemed 22,672 shares (31 December 2017: 28,619 shares) and 
subscribed 34,350 shares into the Portfolio (31 December 2017: 29,551 shares). Transactions for the financial year ended 31 
December 2018 were done on an arms length basis. Walter Dostmann (Company Chairman) holds one subscriber shares (31 
December 2017: one); Michael Greene (Director) holds three subscriber shares and Hermione Winters (A&L Goodbody) 
holds two subscriber shares.

16. Auditor Remuneration

The remuneration for all work carried out by the statutory audit firm in respect of the financial year is as follows:

Year ended 
31 December 2018 

US$

Year ended 
31 December 2017 

US$

Statutory audit of the Company accounts 36,909 27,733
Tax advisory services – 7,655

36,909 35,388

17. Taxation

The Company will not be liable for tax in respect of its income and gains, other than on the occurrence of a chargeable event.
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Generally a chargeable event arises on any distribution, redemption, repurchase, cancellation, transfer of shares or on the 
ending of a “Relevant Period”. A “Relevant Period” being an eight year period beginning with the acquisition of the shares 
by the Shareholder and each subsequent period of eight years beginning immediately after the preceding Relevant Period.

A chargeable event does not include:

i) Any transactions in relation to Redeemable Participating Shares held in a recognised dealing system as designated by 
order of the Revenue Commissioners of Ireland; or,

ii) An exchange of Redeemable Participating Shares representing one Sub-Fund for another Sub-Fund of the Company; 
and,

iii) An exchange of Redeemable Participating Shares arising on a qualifying amalgamation or reconstruction of the 
Company with another Fund.

A chargeable event will not occur in respect of Redeemable Participating shareholders who are neither resident nor ordinarily 
resident in Ireland and who have provided the Company with a relevant declaration to that effect. There were no chargeable 
events during the financial year. 

In the absence of an appropriate declaration, the Company will be liable for Irish tax on the occurrence of a chargeable event 
and the Company reserves its right to withhold such taxes from payments to relevant shareholders. 

Capital gains, dividends and interest received may be subject to withholding taxes imposed by the country of origin and such 
taxes may not be recoverable by the Company or its shareholders. A chargeable event includes any distribution payment to 
shareholders or any encashment, redemption or transfer of shares or an ending of a relevant.

The Finance Act 2010 provides that the Revenue Commissioners may grant approval for Investment Companies marketed 
outside of Ireland to make payments to non-resident investors without deduction of Irish tax where no relevant declaration 
is in place, subject to meeting the “equivalent measures”. An Investment Company wishing to receive approval must apply 
in writing to the Revenue Commissioners, confirming compliance with the relevant conditions.

18. Soft Commission Agreements

There are no soft commission arrangements affecting the Company during the financial year, or in the prior financial year.

19. Significant Changes During the Financial Year

An updated Investment Management Agreement was issued dated 1 May 2018. The Investment Manager fees reduced to 40 
bps on the first USD 100m of assets and 30 bps on assets thereafter.

Jaime Chavez resigned as Director on 30 June 2018.

There were no other changes during the financial year ended 31 December 2018.

20. Significant Events Since the Financial Year End

There have been no events subsequent to the financial year end, which, in the opinion of the Directors of the Company, may 
have had an impact on the financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2018.

21. Approval of Financial Statements

The financial statements were approved by the board on 21 March 2019.

17. Taxation (Continued)
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The percentages in brackets show the equivalent sector holdings at 31 December 2017.

Holdings Financial Assets at fair value through profit or loss
Fair Value 

US$
% of 

Net Assets

Bonds: 96.50% (2017: 91.88%) - Principal Amount (a)

United States Dollar: 96.50% (2017: 91.88%) - denominated

Corporate Bonds: 19.07% (2017: 17.23%) 
 1,000,000 Aeropuerto Internacional de Tocumen 5.625% 18/05/2036 1,016,250 0.71

 600,000 Agua y Saneamientos Argentinos 6.625% 01/02/2023 429,000 0.30
 1,750,000 Banco del Estado de Chile 2.668% 08/01/2021 1,710,625 1.20
 1,500,000 Banco del Estado de Chile 3.875% 08/02/2022 1,491,988 1.04
 2,500,000 Banco Nacional de Costa Rica 5.875% 25/04/2021 2,399,000 1.68
 1,750,000 Banco Nacional de Costa Rica 6.25% 01/11/2023 1,649,375 1.15
 1,500,000 Comision Federal de Electricidad 4.75% 23/02/2027 1,411,875 0.99
 3,000,000 Comision Federal de Electricidad 4.875% 26/05/2021 3,018,750 2.11
 2,500,000 Comision Federal de Electricidad 4.875% 15/01/2024 2,437,500 1.70

 500,000 Corp Nacional del Cobre de Chile 3.875% 03/11/2021 504,745 0.35
 2,000,000 Corp Nacional del Cobre de Chile 4.50% 13/08/2023 2,046,038 1.43
 5,000,000 Instituto Costarricense de Electricidad 6.95% 10/11/2021 4,762,500 3.33
 1,500,000 Petroleos Mexicanos 4.50% 23/01/2026 1,293,000 0.90

 900,000 Petroleos Mexicanos 5.50% 21/01/2021 896,373 0.63
 500,000 Petroleos Mexicanos 6.00% 05/03/2020 509,125 0.36

 1,500,000 Petroleos Mexicanos 6.50% 13/03/2027 1,410,000 0.99
 350,000 Petroleos Mexicanos 6.75% 21/09/2047 289,412 0.20

Government Bonds: 77.43% (2017: 72.96%) 
 1,700,000 Argentine Republic Government International Bond 5.625% 26/01/2022 1,434,375 1.00

 500,000 Argentine Republic Government International Bond 7.50% 22/04/2026 400,625 0.28
 2,500,000 Chile Government International Bond 2.25% 30/10/2022 2,406,625 1.68
 1,500,000 Colombia Government International Bond 2.625% 15/03/2023 1,408,500 0.98
 2,000,000 Colombia Government International Bond 3.875% 25/04/2027 1,910,000 1.34
 2,000,000 Colombia Government International Bond 4.375% 12/07/2021 2,030,000 1.42
 1,000,000 Colombia Government International Bond 4.50% 28/01/2026 1,000,000 0.70

 750,000 Colombia Government International Bond 7.375% 18/09/2037 907,125 0.63
 1,250,000 Colombia Government International Bond 8.125% 21/05/2024 1,456,250 1.02
 2,000,000 Colombia Government International Bond 11.75% 25/02/2020 2,192,000 1.53
 4,400,000 Costa Rica Government International Bond 4.25% 26/01/2023 3,872,000 2.71
 2,000,000 Costa Rica Government International Bond 4.375% 30/04/2025 1,692,500 1.18
 1,500,000 Costa Rica Government International Bond 7.158% 12/03/2045 1,291,875 0.90
 5,000,000 Costa Rica Government International Bond 9.995% 01/08/2020 5,162,500 3.61
 4,000,000 Dominican Republic International Bond 5.50% 27/01/2025 3,965,000 2.77
 3,250,000 Dominican Republic International Bond 5.875% 18/04/2024 3,285,490 2.30
 2,100,000 Dominican Republic International Bond 5.95% 25/01/2027 2,092,125 1.46
 1,500,000 Dominican Republic International Bond 6.00% 19/07/2028 1,496,250 1.05
 3,250,000 Dominican Republic International Bond 6.60% 28/01/2024 3,388,125 2.37

 750,000 Dominican Republic International Bond 6.85% 27/01/2045 738,750 0.52
 2,000,000 Dominican Republic International Bond 6.875% 29/01/2026 2,097,500 1.47
 3,500,000 Dominican Republic International Bond 7.50% 06/05/2021 3,613,750 2.52
 1,500,000 El Salvador Government International Bond 5.875% 30/01/2025 1,381,875 0.97
 1,470,000 El Salvador Government International Bond 6.375% 18/01/2027 1,346,520 0.94
 5,000,000 El Salvador Government International Bond 7.375% 01/12/2019 5,018,750 3.51



CABEI Central American Fund plc - CABEI Central American Portfolio Annual Report and Audited
Financial Statements 2018

Schedule of Investments (Unaudited) 

41

As at 31 December 2018 (Continued)

The percentages in brackets show the equivalent sector holdings at 31 December 2017.

Holdings Financial Assets at fair value through profit or loss
Fair Value 

US$ 
% of 

Net Assets
      

  Bonds: 96.50% (2017: 91.88%) - Principal Amount (a) (continued)
      
  United States Dollar: 96.50% (2017: 91.88%) - denominated (continued)
      
  Government Bonds: 77.43% (2017: 72.96%) (Continued)    

 500,000 El Salvador Government International Bond 7.625% 01/02/2041 471,250 0.33
 4,500,000 El Salvador Government International Bond 7.75% 24/01/2023 4,629,375 3.24
 1,200,000 El Salvador Government International Bond 8.25% 10/04/2032 1,215,000 0.85
 1,500,000 Guatemala Government Bond 4.375% 05/06/2027 1,383,750 0.97
 6,000,000 Guatemala Government Bond 4.50% 03/05/2026 5,625,000 3.93
 2,000,000 Guatemala Government Bond 4.875% 13/02/2028 1,894,100 1.32
 7,000,000 Guatemala Government Bond 5.75% 06/06/2022 7,245,000 5.06
 4,000,000 Honduras Government International Bond 6.25% 19/01/2027 3,950,400 2.76
 4,800,000 Honduras Government International Bond 7.50% 15/03/2024 5,035,728 3.52
 6,000,000 Honduras Government International Bond 8.75% 16/12/2020 6,373,500 4.46
 1,500,000 Mexico Government International Bond 3.60% 30/01/2025 1,431,000 1.00
 1,500,000 Mexico Government International Bond 3.625% 15/03/2022 1,483,380 1.04
 1,000,000 Panama Bonos del Tesoro 5.625% 25/07/2022 1,075,000 0.75
 2,000,000 Panama Government International Bond 3.75% 16/03/2025 1,981,020 1.38
 2,000,000 Panama Government International Bond 3.875% 17/03/2028 1,970,000 1.38
 3,000,000 Panama Government International Bond 4.00% 22/09/2024 3,025,530 2.12
 2,000,000 Panama Government International Bond 4.875% 05/02/2021 2,062,030 1.44
 2,500,000 Panama Government International Bond 5.20% 30/01/2020 2,551,275 1.78
 1,500,000 Panama Government International Bond 7.125% 29/01/2026 1,772,715 1.24

Supranational: 0.00% (2017: 1.69%) 

Total United States Dollar - denominated 138,039,119 96.50

Total Bonds 138,039,119 96.50

Total Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 138,039,119 96.50

Accrued Income on Financial Assets at Fair Value through 
Profit or Loss (2017: 1.39%) 2,355,045 1.65

Total Value of Investments 140,394,164 98.15
(Cost: US$ 142,686,912) (2017: US$ 106,414,443)

Cash and cash equivalents* 2,892,673 2.02

Other Net Liabilities (235,258) (0.17)

Net Assets Attributable to Holders of Redeemable
Participating Shares 143,051,579 100.00

 (a) in US Dollar, unless noted.
 *All cash holdings are held with Northern Trust Company, London Branch.
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As at 31 December 2018 (Continued)

Analysis of Total Assets (unaudited)
% of  

Total Assets

Transferable Securities admitted to an official Stock Exchange Listing or traded on a regulated market 97.97
Other Assets 2.03

100.00
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Under the Central Bank UCITS Regulations, certain information on the Company’s trading activities which are defined as 
aggregate purchases and sales exceeding 1% of aggregate cost and proceeds must be presented. At a minimum, the largest 20 
purchases and 20 sales must be given. The purchases and sales exceeding 1%, respectively, during the year ended December 31, 
2018, were as follows:

All Purchases

Holdings Cost 
US$

4,500,000 Guatemala Government Bond 4.50% 03/05/2026 4,453,650
4,000,000 Honduras Government International Bond 6.25% 19/01/2027 4,318,120
2,900,000 Dominican Republic International Bond 5.50% 27/01/2025 2,980,310
2,500,000 Banco Nacional de Costa Rica 5.875% 25/04/2021 2,596,250
2,500,000 Chile Government International Bond 2.25% 30/10/2022 2,395,250
2,100,000 Dominican Republic International Bond 5.95% 25/01/2027 2,103,885
2,000,000 Corp Nacional del Cobre de Chile 4.50% 13/08/2023 2,060,000
2,000,000 Panama Government International Bond 3.75% 16/03/2025 1,997,800
2,000,000 Panama Government International Bond 3.875% 17/03/2028 1,977,000
2,000,000 Colombia Government International Bond 3.875% 25/04/2027 1,913,250
1,750,000 Banco Nacional de Costa Rica 6.25% 01/11/2023 1,819,060
1,700,000 Argentine Republic Government International Bond 5.625% 26/01/2022 1,769,700
1,500,000 Panama Government International Bond 7.125% 29/01/2026 1,737,000
1,750,000 Banco del Estado de Chile 2.668% 08/01/2021 1,720,250
1,500,000 Petroleos Mexicanos 5.721% 11/03/2022 1,653,600
1,500,000 Petroleos Mexicanos 6.50% 13/03/2027 1,547,100
1,250,000 Colombia Government International Bond 8.125% 21/5/2024 1,541,750
1,500,000 Comision Federal de Electricidad 4.75% 23/02/2027 1,518,750
1,500,000 Dominican Republic International Bond 6.00% 19/07/2028 1,514,250
1,500,000 Costa Rica Government International Bond 7.158% 12/03/2045 1,502,850
1,500,000 Banco del Estado de Chile 3.875% 08/02/2022 1,488,270
1,500,000 Mexico Government International Bond 3.625% 15/03/2022 1,475,250
1,500,000 Mexico City Airport 4.25% 31/10/2026 1,441,500
1,500,000 Petroleos Mexicanos 4.50% 1/23/2026 1,420,950
1,200,000 Honduras Government International Bond 8.75% 16/12/2020 1,331,400
1,400,000 Costa Rica Government International Bond 4.375% 30/04/2025 1,326,080
1,000,000 Aeropuerto Internacional de Tocumen 5.625% 18/05/2036 1,072,800
1,000,000 Dominican Republic International Bond 7.50% 06/05/2021 1,031,000
1,000,000 Panama Government International Bond 4.00% 22/09/2024 1,028,500
1,000,000 Comision Federal de Electricidad 4.875% 15/01/2024 1,017,995

750,000 Colombia Government International Bond 7.375% 18/09/2037 920,550
750,000 Dominican Republic International Bond 6.85% 27/01/2045 750,938

All Sales

Holdings Proceeds 
US$

3,300,000 Panama Notas del Tesoro 5.00% 15/06/2018 3,300,000
2,500,000 Colombia Government International Bond 7.375% 18/03/2019 2,529,150
2,500,000 Banco Nacional de Costa Rica 4.875% 01/11/2018 2,500,000
2,000,000 Petroleos Mexicanos 5.721% 11/03/2022 2,152,000
2,000,000 Banco de Costa Rica 5.25% 12/08/2018 2,000,000
2,000,000 Banco Latinoamericano de Comercio Exterior SA 3.25% 07/05/2020 1,969,000
2,000,000 Costa Rica Government International Bond 4.375% 30/04/2025 1,750,000
1,700,000 Petroleos Mexicanos 8.00% 03/05/2019 1,723,800
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All Sales (Continued)
Holdings Proceeds 

US$
1,500,000 Mexico City Airport 4.25% 31/10/2026 1,309,050
1,000,000 Petroleos Mexicanos 3.18% 18/07/2018 1,000,000

500,000 Petroleos Mexicanos 5.75% 01/03/2018 500,000
500,000 Guatemala Government Bond 4.875% 13/02/2028 491,000
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Total Expense Ratios 1:

Year Ended 31 December 2018 Year Ended 31 December 2017

CABEI Central American Fund plc 0.96% 1.13%

The Total Expense Ratio (“TER”) was calculated according to currently valid guidelines of the Swiss Funds & Asset Management 
Association SFAMA.

Fund Data Performance:

31.12.2017 to 
31.12.2018

31.12.2016 to 
31.12.2017

31.12.2015 to 
31.12.2016

31.12.2014 to 
31.12.2015

CABEI Central American Fund plc -2.39% 6.86% 6.40% -0.84%

Historical performance is no indicator for current or future performance. The performance data does not take account of any 
commissions and costs charged when subscribing or redeeming units.

Other Information: 

First Independent Fund Services Ltd, Klausstrasse 33, CH-8008 Zurich is the authorised legal representative in Switzerland. 
All important information such as the Prospectus, Articles of Association, the key investor information documents (“KIIDs”) 
the statement of purchases and sales and the annual or semi-annual report can be obtained free of charge from the latter at the 
following address.

First Independent Fund Services Ltd
Klausstrasse 33
CH-8008 Zurich
Switzerland
Tel.: +41 44 206 16 40
Fax: +41 44 206 16 41
 
The paying agent in Switzerland is: 
NPB New Private Bank Ltd 
Limmatquai 1/am Bellevue 
P.O. Box
CH-8024 Zurich
Switzerland
Tel.: +41 44 265 11 88
www.npb-bank.ch

1The Total Expense Ratio (“TER”) is calculated according to the following formula:
 (total expenses/ Average Fund assets)* 100.
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The UCITS Regulations require the Company to establish and apply remuneration policies and practices that promote sound and 
effective risk management, and do not encourage risk taking which is inconsistent with the risk profile of the UCITS.The Ucits 

To that effect, the Company has implemented a Remuneration Policy.

The purpose of the Company’s remuneration policy is to seek to ensure that the remuneration arrangements of “identified staff”:

(i) are consistent and promote sound and effective risk management and do not encourage risk-taking which is inconsistent with 
the risk profile, rules or instruments of incorporation of the Company; and

(ii) are consistent with the Company’s business strategy, objectives, values and interests and include measures to avoid conflicts 
of interest.

The Company has a business model, policies and procedures which by their nature do not promote excessive risk taking and take 
account of the nature, scale and complexity of the Company.

The independent directors receive fixed remuneration of US$132,269 (for the financial year ended 31 December 2017: US$ 
141,910 in aggregate) in respect of their services which is set at a level determined by the board as a whole and which is not 
performance related. This is detailed in note 15. None of the directors are currently in receipt of variable remuneration in respect 
of their services as directors of the Company and none of the directors are currently in receipt of a pension from the Company.

The designated persons receive fixed remuneration (increased to EUR 25,000 per annum from 1 July 2018) (31 December 2017: 
US$ 15,000 in aggregate) in respect of their services and which is not performance related. None of the designated persons are 
currently in receipt of variable remuneration in respect of their services as designated persons of the Company and none of the 
designated persons are currently in receipt of a pension from the Company.

An annual review has been undertaken and no material changes have been made to the remuneration policy.

The Remuneration Policy of the Company can be viewed on www.cabeifund.com.
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